
 
 1 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No.: 1:15-cv-00925 
 
DOMINO SERVICE DOGS, a Colorado Nonprofit Corporation, 
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado Nonprofit Corporation, 
BARBARA HENRY, on behalf of herself and as parent and next friend of CAITLIN BRADY, 
MARK SIMON, 
RUTHIE MCNAIR, 
MAUREEN STEVENS, 
VALERIE SCHLECHT, and 
FRANCESCA MAES, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
KRASNER AMUSEMENT COMPANY, 
TOWN OF LAKESIDE, COLORADO, and 
TOWN OF LAKESIDE, COLORADO POLICE DEPARTMENT, 
 

Defendants. 
 
 

COMPLAINT 
 
 

Plaintiffs, Domino Service Dogs, Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, Barbara Henry, on 

behalf of herself and parent and next friend of Caitlin Brady, Mark Simon, Ruthie McNair, 

Maureen Stevens, Valerie Schlecht, and Francesca Maes,1 by and through undersigned counsel, 

hereby bring this Complaint against the Krasner Amusement Company, the Town of Lakeside, 

Colorado and the Town of Lakeside, Colorado Police Department (“Lakeside Police Department”) 

                                                                                    

 1 Plaintiffs Barbara Henry, on behalf of herself and parent and next friend of Caitlin 
Brady, Mark Simon, Ruthie McNair, Maureen Stevens, Valerie Schlecht, and Francesca Maes, 
will be referred to throughout this Complaint as the "Individual Plaintiffs." 
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for violations of Titles II, III and IV of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 

12131, et seq., and its implementing regulations, 42 U.S.C. § 12181 et seq., 42 U.S.C. § 12203, and 

its implementing regulations, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act (“Section 504”), 29 U.S.C. § 

794, et seq., and its implementing regulations, and the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act 

(“CADA”), Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 24-34-601, et seq., 801, et seq., 803, et seq. and its implementing 

regulations, as applicable. 

Introduction  

1. On July 26, 1990, almost twenty-five years ago, the ADA was passed, establishing 

the most important civil rights law for people with disabilities in the nation’s history. 

2. The ADA was passed to ensure people with disabilities are not discriminated 

against by employers, government entities, places of public accommodation and more. 

3. The ADA prohibits public entities, such as the Town of Lakeside, Colorado, and its 

Police Department, from excluding individuals with disabilities from participation in, or denying 

access to programs, services, and activities based on the need for a service animal. 

4. The ADA prohibits places of public accommodation, such as the Lakeside 

Amusement Park (“Park”), from excluding individuals with disabilities and/or discriminating 

against them in the provision of goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or 

accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person who owns, leases (or leases 

to), or operates a place of public accommodation. 

5. The ADA also prohibits these places from preventing individuals with disabilities 

who have service animals from allowing their service animals to accompany them to the facilities 
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of the places of public accommodation. 

6. Section 504 makes it unlawful for recipients of federal financial assistance to 

discriminate against individuals with disabilities. 

7. On information and belief, the Town of Lakeside and its Police Department are 

recipients of federal financial assistance. 

8. The CADA makes prohibitions similar to the ADA’s with respect to individuals 

with disabilities who use service animals and also restricts discrimination against individuals with 

disabilities and others who have service animals in training. 

9. On August 17, 2014, the Individual Plaintiffs, including Domino Service Dogs, a 

company that trains service animals with potential owners, and several individuals with service 

animals and service animals in training went to the Park, both to enjoy the park itself and to 

acclimate some of the service animals in training to the place of public accommodation. 

10. Nevertheless, in this case, the operators of Lakeside Amusement Park denied 

individuals with disabilities who use service animals and service animals in training access to any 

of the rides with their service animals and service animals in training. 

11. The Town of Lakeside, through its Police Department, also prohibited individuals 

with disabilities who use service animals and service animals in training from accessing any of the 

rides and engaged in unlawful intimidation and coercion against individuals have disabilities and 

use service animals and service animals in training. 

12. Under Colorado law, it is a crime to interfere with an individual who, based on 

disability, has the right to use a service animal or service animal in training. Nevertheless, an agent 
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of the Lakeside Police Department refused to even look at the statute when one of the Plaintiffs 

tried to show it to him, let alone enforce it. 

13. As set forth more fully below, Defendants denied individuals who use service 

animals and/or who train service animals equal access to their programs, services, and activities, as 

well as their goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations as required by 

law. 

14. Plaintiffs seek a court order compelling Defendants to comply with the ADA, 

Section 504 and the CADA, monetary damages and the recovery of their reasonable attorneys’ 

fees and costs. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

15. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343, and may exercise jurisdiction over the state claims pursuant to its 

authority under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

16. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

Parties 

17.  Domino Service Dogs is a nonprofit, corporation, staffed entirely by volunteers, 

whose mission and purpose include training service animals to perform services for eligible 

individuals with disabilities. As part of Domino Service Dogs’ services, the organization takes 

individuals with service animals and service animals in training to places of public 

accommodation in order to acclimate the service animals in training and their owners to public 

environments. Domino Service Dogs is a program that teaches people with disabilities to self-train 
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service animals and assists them with training as necessary. Domino Service Dogs holds regularly 

scheduled classes on at least a monthly basis. 

18. Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado nonprofit 

corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies.  

19. Plaintiff Barbara Henry is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the 

State of Colorado. Ms. Henry is the founder and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of Domino 

Service Dogs. Ms. Henry trains service animals through her volunteer-run organization. Ms. 

Henry is also a member of CCDC. 

20. Plaintiff Caitlin Brady is the minor daughter of Plaintiff Barbara Henry and is 

substantially limited in the major life activity of walking. Miss Brady uses a wheelchair for 

mobility and has a service dog to assist her with everyday tasks related to her disability, such as 

picking things up off the floor and helping to pull her in her wheelchair. Miss Brady is a member of 

CCDC. 

21. Plaintiff Mark Simon is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the State 

of Colorado. Mr. Simon is substantially limited in the major life activity of walking and uses a 

wheelchair for mobility. Mr. Simon also uses a service dog to assist him with various activities 

related to his disability, including pulling him in his wheelchair. Mr. Simon is a member of CCDC. 

22. Plaintiff Maureen Stevens is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the 

State of Colorado. Ms. Stevens has Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and is substantially limited in 

several major life activities. Plaintiff Maureen Stevens suffers from disorientation and anxiety 

attacks. Plaintiff Maureen Stevens requires the use of a service animal to assist her with 
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functioning normally in public without suffering disorientation and anxiety attacks. Ms. Stevens 

uses a service animal to assist her with various activities related to her disability. Ms. Stevens is a 

member of CCDC. Ms. Stevens is a trainer at Domino Service Dogs. 

23. Plaintiff Ruthie McNair is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the 

State of Colorado. Ms. McNair is significantly limited in the major life activity of walking as a 

result of both hip and knee replacements as well as significant back problems. Ms. McNair has a 

very difficult time ambulating without the help of a walker or wheelchair. Ms. McNair has a 

service animal to assist her with activities of daily living. Her service dog is also trained to help her 

balance when she is walking, which is very limited. 

24. Plaintiff Valerie Schlecht is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the 

State of Colorado. Ms. Schlecht attended the gathering with the other referenced Individual 

Plaintiffs at Lakeside Amusement Park at which those other Plaintiffs were denied access to the 

Lakeside Amusement Park train. Ms. Schlecht has Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, which was 

aggravated by the belligerent behavior of the police officers. Ms. Schlecht brings claims based on 

her relationship or association with those other Plaintiffs. Ms. Schlecht is a member of CCDC. 

25. Plaintiff Francesca Maes is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the 

State of Colorado. Ms. Maes is substantially limited in several major life activities brought on by 

liver cirrhosis and in balance and walking due to a back surgery, and other conditions. Ms. Maes 

has a service dog, which she uses as a mobility dog to assist her with balance issues. Ms. Maes is a 

member of CCDC. 

26. Defendant Krasner Amusement Company is a Colorado corporation that owns and 

Case 1:15-cv-00925   Document 1   Filed 04/30/15   USDC Colorado   Page 6 of 33



 
 7 

operates Lakeside Amusement Park, a place of public accommodation.  

27. Defendant the Town of Lakeside, Colorado is a Colorado town organized pursuant 

to Colo. Rev. Stat. § 31-1-203(1).  

28. On information and belief, the Town of Lakeside, Colorado is responsible for the 

operation of its Police Department. 

29. Defendant Lakeside, Colorado Police Department is a police department operated 

by the Town of Lakeside, Colorado and a local law enforcement agency, as defined in Colo. Rev. 

Stat. § 24-33.5-602. 

Facts 

30. On August 17, 2014, the Plaintiffs, several individuals with disabilities with service 

animals and service animals in training and some of their friends and colleagues, went to Lakeside 

Amusement Park for the purpose of enjoying the park as well as training and acclimating some of 

the service dogs in training some of the Plaintiffs had with them. 

31. Domino Service Dogs paid for the majority of the Individual Plaintiffs’ admission 

to the park and for train tickets for all. 

32. Domino Service Dogs has taken individuals training service animals to Lakeside 

Amusement Park before. She has gone with groups with whom service animals and service 

animals in training have ridden the train, and other rides at Lakeside Amusement Park. 

33. On one other occasion, in 2009, Ms. Hershey and other volunteers with Domino 

Service Dogs were denied access to the train. 

34. After that, Domino Service Dogs was deterred from going to Lakeside Amusement 
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Park because of the 2009 denial. 

35. Nevertheless, in 2014, Domino Service Dogs tried again to train owners and 

service dogs in training at Lakeside Amusement Park. 

36. Plaintiff Barbara Henry and other volunteers of Domino Service Dogs were at the 

Park that day for one of their regularly scheduled outings for the purpose of training service 

animals and their potential owners. 

37. Lakeside Amusement Park employees refused to allow Plaintiffs who use service 

animals and who were training service animals to ride any of the rides at the amusement park with 

their service animals and service animals in training. 

38. One specific ride Plaintiffs attempted to use with their service animals and service 

animals in training was the Lakeside Amusement Park train. 

39. The Individual Plaintiffs got in line for the train. 

40. Lakeside Amusement Park employees refused to allow Plaintiffs to ride the train 

with their service animals and service animals in training. 

41. Upon request of Lakeside Amusement Park officials or the Lakeside Police 

Department, the Individual Plaintiffs were asked to move out of the line. 

42. The Individual Plaintiffs made certain not to block access to the train for any other 

customers while discussing their rights with Lakeside Amusement Park employees and the 

Lakeside Police Department. 

43. On information and belief, Lakeside Amusement Park employees contacted the 

Lakeside Police Department to come to the train station to assist in preventing Plaintiffs from 
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riding the train with their service animals and service animals in training. 

44. The Lakeside Police Department intervened to prevent Plaintiffs attempting to ride 

the train with their service animals and service animals and training. 

45. The Lakeside Police Department refused to allow Plaintiffs to ride the train with 

their service animals and service animals in training. 

46. On information and belief, numerous wheelchair access barriers exist throughout 

the park that could be remedied without much difficulty or expense. For example, the parking lot 

does not have marked access aisles for accessible parking, and for a person with a disability to get 

from the accessible parking to the entrance to the park, the individual must travel into the path of 

traffic. In addition, the queue line leading to boarding train is too narrow and does not meet the 

standards required by the ADA. In addition, restroom modifications could be made that would 

create greater accessibility. 

47. When Plaintiff Francesca Maes attempted to film and record the interactions 

among the Plaintiffs, the employees for the Lakeside Amusement Park and the Lakeside Police 

Department, she was threatened with a lawsuit by Lakeside Amusement Park staff and with arrest 

by the Lakeside Police Department. 

48. Other members of the party took either video or photographs of the discussion 

between the Plaintiffs and the Lakeside Police Department and Lakeside Amusement Park 

employees. 

49. Lakeside Police Department officers threatened those who were taking videos and 

pictures with arrest. 
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50. Plaintiffs saw other people at Lakeside Amusement Park taking pictures and 

videos, who were not asked by the police not to do so. 

51. Plaintiffs requested that the Lakeside Police Department produce a statute or 

ordinance that showed that they were prohibited from filming the activities of the Lakeside 

Amusement Park staff and by the Lakeside Police Department, but the police officers failed to find 

or produce such a statute or ordinance. 

52. Plaintiffs had a discussion with Lakeside Amusement Park employees and 

Lakeside Police Department officers with respect to allowing Plaintiffs to board the train with their 

service animals and service animals in training. 

53. Plaintiffs also attempted to explain to the Lakeside Police Department that there 

was no regulation that prohibited individuals from videotaping or recording at the amusement 

park. 

54. The Lakeside Police Department informed the Plaintiffs that it would take going 

through numerous statutes to find the one that prohibited recording in amusement park and that 

because Lakeside Amusement Park was private property, the owners and operators were entitled 

to request the Plaintiffs stop recording and eject them from the park if necessary. 

55. Lakeside Amusement Park employees informed Plaintiffs that no animals are 

permitted on any ride and that if Plaintiffs wanted to ride the train, they must leave their service 

animals and service animals in training unattended at the station or split their party and have half of 

the party watch the dogs. 

56. Lakeside Amusement Park employees informed Plaintiffs that Lakeside 
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Amusement Park has a policy requiring that an individual who uses a wheelchair must be able to 

self-load on the ride and self-evacuate in the event of a breakdown, or that the individual using a 

wheelchair must bring someone who would stay in line with and could carry the individual on the 

ride with the person and carry the individual who uses a wheelchair off in the event of evacuation. 

57. The Lakeside Police Department informed Plaintiffs that they should leave the 

property and file a complaint with the Department of Justice if they were dissatisfied with not 

being allowed to bring their service animals and service animals in training aboard the train. 

58. Lakeside Amusement Park employees demanded that Plaintiffs provide them with 

identification and threatened ejection from the Lakeside Amusement Park if identification was not 

provided. 

59. Lakeside Amusement Park employees did not demand identification from any 

other non-disabled person who rode the train or entered the park that day. 

60. The Lakeside Amusement Park has signs saying that no animals of any kind are 

allowed in the park. There is no exclusion on the sign for service animals. 

61. Lakeside Amusement Park employees informed Plaintiffs that the park was 

“historic,” and, therefore, Lakeside Amusement Park did not need to make any changes to the park 

or to its policies to make it accessible to individuals who use wheelchairs. 

62. One of the Plaintiffs provided the Lakeside Police Department officers with a copy 

of information about the criminal statute that makes it a crime to interfere with the rights of an 

individual with disabilities, Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-13-107(3).  

63. A true and correct copy of the form provided to the Lakeside Police Department 
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officers is produced herewith as Exhibit A. 

64. The Lakeside Police Department officers refused to look at the copy of the 

information about the criminal statute one Plaintiff provided and said they would not enforce it. 

65. Lakeside Police Department officers threatened to arrest Plaintiffs for disturbing 

the peace, creating a public nuisance and trespassing, even though they were behaving in an 

orderly fashion and waiting in line with their service animals and service animals in training to 

board the train. 

66. The Lakeside Police Department officers were loud, threatening, rude and 

belligerent to Plaintiffs who were simply trying to explain their rights under both the ADA and the 

CADA. 

67. The Lakeside Amusement Park employees were intimidating and harassing to 

Plaintiffs who were simply trying to explain their rights under both the ADA and the CADA. 

68. A video of some of the event was made and was posted to YouTube at the 

following URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N-nfbhsB4FA&feature=em-upload_owner. 

69. On information and belief, there may be additional video and/or other recordings of 

the incidents that occurred at the Lakeside Amusement Park train depot on August 17, 2014. 

70. Even though “amusement parks” are specifically identified as a place of public 

accommodation under the ADA, one of the Lakeside Police Department officers insisted that 

amusement parks were exempted from the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

71. One of the Lakeside Police Department officers, believed to be the supervising 

officer, left the scene and returned and produced paperwork that purported to exclude amusement 
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parks from disability rights laws, but the paperwork referenced temporary, movable rides, such as 

those found at carnivals and other places where the rides are movable. 

72. The rides at the Lakeside Amusement Park are permanent, not movable. 

73. The Lakeside Amusement Park employees and Lakeside Police Department 

officers informed the Plaintiffs that because the amusement park is private property, the Plaintiffs 

could be asked to leave at any time for any reason. 

74. During their discussions with the Lakeside Police Department officers, Plaintiffs 

specifically requested that the officers file a criminal complaint against the Lakeside Amusement 

Park for violation of Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-13-107 (“Interference with persons with disabilities”). 

75. The Lakeside Police Department officers refused to take a report or file a 

complaint. 

76. Plaintiff Barbara Henry wanted to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park with 

her associates and friends, but she did not want to do so if they were not allowed to board the train 

with their service animals and service animals in training. 

77. Plaintiff Barbara Henry uses a service dog herself, but she did not bring her service 

dog that day so that she could assist with training others. 

78. Because Lakeside Amusement Park and Lakeside Police Department prohibited 

any member of the group from riding the train with a service animal or service animal in training, 

Plaintiff Barbara Henry was deterred from riding the train as well. 

79. The Lakeside Police Department blocked the entrance to the train for the Individual 

Plaintiffs. 
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80. Plaintiff Barbara Henry will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the 

train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service 

animals in training.  

81. Plaintiff Caitlin Brady wanted to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park with 

her associates and friends, but she did not want to do so if they were not allowed to board the train 

with their service animals and service animals in training. 

82. Plaintiff Caitlin Brady also has a service dog that assists her with balance and 

pulling her wheelchair. Plaintiff Caitlin Brady did not bring her service animal that day so that she 

could assist others with training. 

83. Because Lakeside Amusement Park and Lakeside Police Department prohibited 

any member of the group from riding the train with a service animal or service animal in training, 

Plaintiff Caitlin Brady was deterred from riding the train as well. 

84. Plaintiff Caitlin Brady will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the 

train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service 

animals in training. 

85. Plaintiff Mark Simon wanted to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park with his 

service animal and would have done so, but Defendants refused to allow Plaintiff Mark Simon to 

ride the train with his service animal. 

86. Plaintiff Mark Simon will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the 

train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service 

animals in training being permitted to accompany their owners on the train. 
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87. Plaintiff Ruthie McNair wanted to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park with 

her service animal and would have done so, but Defendants refused to allow Plaintiff Ruthie 

McNair to ride the train with her service animal. 

88. Plaintiff Ruthie McNair will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the 

train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service 

animals in training being permitted to accompany their owners on the train. 

89. Plaintiff Maureen Stevens wanted to ride the train with her service dog, but 

Lakeside Amusement Park employees and Lakeside Police Department officers refused to allow 

her to board the train with her service dog. 

90. Plaintiff Maureen Stevens will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride 

the train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and 

service animals in training being permitted to accompany their owners on the train. 

91. Plaintiff Valerie Schlecht wanted to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park 

with her associates and friends, but she did not want to do so if they were not allowed to board the 

train with their service animals and service animals in training. 

92. Because Lakeside Amusement Park and Lakeside Police Department prohibited 

any member of the group from riding the train with a service animal, or service animal in training, 

Plaintiff Valerie Schlecht was deterred from riding the train as well. 

93. Plaintiff Valerie Schlecht will return to Lakeside Amusement Park with her friends 

and colleagues who have service animals and service animals in training and will ride the train if 

Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service animals 
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in training.  

94. Plaintiff Francesca Maes wanted to be able to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement 

Park with her service animal and would have done so, but Defendants refused to allow Plaintiff. 

Francesca Maes to ride the train with her service animal. 

95. Plaintiff Francesca Maes will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the 

train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service 

animals in training being permitted to accompany their owners on the train. 

96. Plaintiffs found the behavior of the Lakeside Amusement Park employees and the 

Lakeside Police Department to be very rude and threatening and intimidating. 

97. During the course of the interactions among the Plaintiffs and the Lakeside 

Amusement Park employees, the Park employees told Plaintiffs that they would be permitted to 

ride without their service animals, but not with their service animals. 

98. Because the Individual Plaintiffs were not permitted to ride the train with their 

service animals or service animals in training, and were told by Lakeside Amusement Park 

employees they were not permitted to take their service animals or service animals and training on 

any ride, they left the park. 

99. Lakeside Police Department officers followed the Individual Plaintiffs out of the 

park. 

100. Each of the Individual Plaintiffs has suffered discrimination, harm and damages as 

the result of Defendants’ unlawful policies, practices and procedures. 

101. Each of the Individual Plaintiffs, including those with their service animals and 
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service animals in training, will return to Lakeside Amusement Park if Defendants’ unlawful 

policies, practices and procedures are corrected. 

102. Domino Service Dogs is a nonprofit organization designed for the purpose of 

furthering the independence of individuals with disabilities by assisting them in training service 

animals. 

103. Domino Service Dogs uses public accommodations like Lakeside Amusement Park 

for the purpose of training and acclimating service animals to places of public accommodation. 

104. The discriminatory policies, practices and procedures of Lakeside Amusement 

Park have damaged the mission and purpose of Domino Service Dogs. 

105. The actions of the Lakeside Police Department have damaged the mission and 

purpose of Domino Service Dogs. 

106. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and 

perceptible injury to Domino Service Dogs. Those injuries include, but are not limited to, those 

described herein. 

107. Many CCDC members are individuals with disabilities who use service animals 

and service animals in training. 

108. Many CCDC members who use service animals and service animals in training 

would like to go to Lakeside Amusement Park and to enjoy its facilities and accommodations with 

their service animals. 

109. Many CCDC members are friends and associates of individuals who use service 

animals and service animals in training, and would like to go to Lakeside Amusement Park and be 
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able to enjoy its facilities and accommodations with their friends and associates who use service 

animals when and if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policies, practices and procedures with 

respect to service animals and service animals in training. 

110. CCDC members have been deterred from visiting Lakeside Amusement Park by its 

policies, practices and procedures prohibiting those individuals with disabilities who use service 

animals and service animals in training from enjoying the Park’s accommodations and facilities 

with their service animals and service animals in training. 

111. CCDC members with disabilities who have service animals or service animals in 

training will visit Lakeside Amusement Park once it eliminates its discriminatory policies against 

individuals with disabilities who have service animals and service animals in training.  

112. CCDC’s purpose is to promote independence, self-reliance, and full participation 

for people with all types of disabilities, and to combat discrimination against individuals with 

disabilities, through advocacy, education, research and training. As a part of that purpose, CCDC 

seeks to ensure that individuals with disabilities who use service animals or service animals in 

training do not face discrimination by places of public accommodation like Lakeside Amusement 

Park. 

113. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts to 

promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities. This effort and this 

purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Defendants’ violations of the ADA 

and the CADA. 

114. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and 
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perceptible injury to CCDC. Those injuries include, but are not limited to, those described herein. 

115. In the absence of the injunction sought herein, Defendants will continue to 

discriminate against individuals with disabilities who use service animals and service animals in 

training, including Plaintiffs and many other CCDC members and Domino Service Dogs’ clients 

with service animals and service animals in training. 

116. As advocates on behalf of individuals who use service animals and service animals 

in training, CCDC and Domino Service Dogs have an interest in ensuring that a public 

accommodation, such as Lakeside Amusement Park, allows individuals with disabilities who use 

service animals and service animals in training to enjoy the facilities of a place of public 

accommodation just like all other customers. 

117. Many of CCDC’s members and Domino Service Dogs’ trainers and trainees 

patronize Lakeside Amusement Park, plan to continue to do so in the future, and would like to -- 

and are ready, willing and able to -- patronize Lakeside Amusement Park when the discriminatory 

barriers are removed or cured. 

118. CCDC’s members and Domino Service Dogs’ trainers and trainees are injured by 

their inability to use the facilities at Lakeside Amusement Park with their service animals and 

service animals in training. 

119. In addition, Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct 

impalpable injury to CCDC and Domino Service Dogs themselves, along with their members and 

constituents. Defendants’ discriminatory actions have caused CCDC and Domino Service Dogs to 

expend resources to investigate and remedy the violations of law alleged herein. 
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120. CCDC’s and Domino Service Dogs’ injuries are traceable to Defendants’ 

discriminatory conduct alleged herein, and will be redressed by the relief requested. 

121. CCDC’s members and Domino Service Dogs’ clients who use service animals or 

service animals in training have been injured and will continue to be injured by Defendants’ 

refusal to comply with the ADA, Section 504 and the CADA, and Defendants’ continued acts of 

discrimination. 

122. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendants, is at the core of 

CCDC’s and Domino Service Dogs’ organizational purposes. 

First Claim for Relief 
(Violations of Section 504 against the Town of Lakeside and the Lakeside Police Department) 

 
123. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set 

forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

124. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 provides in pertinent part: 

No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States . . . shall, 
solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be 
denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or 
activity receiving Federal financial assistance. 29 U.S.C. § 794(a). 
 
125. On information and belief, both the Town of Lakeside, Colorado and the Lakeside 

Police Department receive federal funding through state and federal programs. 

126. Both Defendants are “a department, agency, special purpose district, or other 

instrumentality of a State or of a local government[.]” 29 U.S.C. § 794(b)(1)(A). 

127. Each of the Individual Plaintiffs is a qualified individual with a disability who uses 

a service animal, or service animal in training or is a known associate, or has a relationship with an 
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individual with a disability who has a service animal or service animal in training and has been 

subjected to discrimination by Defendants, as described in this Complaint, solely on the basis of 

disability, including being denied access to the facilities of Lakeside Amusement Park without the 

use of their service animals or service animals in training. 

128. CCDC is a membership organization whose members are individuals with 

disabilities, including mobility disabilities, and their non-disabled allies. 

129. Other CCDC members who use service animals or service animals in training will 

be subject to discrimination by Defendants solely on the basis of their disabilities. 

130. Other CCDC members who are associated with individuals who have and use 

service animals or service animals in training will be subject to discrimination by Defendants 

solely on the basis of the disabilities of their associates. 

131. Domino Service Dogs is an entity whose purpose it is to train service animals and 

their potential owners in places of public accommodation. 

132. Defendants and their agents acted intentionally and with a reckless disregard for 

Plaintiffs’ civil rights. 

133. Plaintiffs have been injured, damaged and aggrieved by and will continue to be 

injured, damaged and aggrieved by Defendants’ discrimination. 

Second Claim for Relief 
(Violations of Title III of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12181, et seq., against Krasner Amusement Co.) 

 
134. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set 

forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 
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135. Title III of the ADA provides in pertinent part: “No individual shall be 

discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, 

services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public 

accommodation by any person who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public 

accommodation.” 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a). 

136. Lakeside Amusement Park is a place of public accommodation under the ADA. 42 

U.S.C. § 12181(7)(I)(defining “amusement park” as a place of public accommodation). 

137. All Individual Plaintiffs are individuals with disabilities as defined in the ADA or 

individuals with a relationship or association with individuals with disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 12102; 

28 C.F.R. § 35.130(g). 

138. CCDC is a membership organization whose members are individuals with 

disabilities, including individuals with disabilities who use service animals or service animals in 

training, and their non-disabled allies. 

139. CCDC is an entity that has a relationship or association with the Individual 

Plaintiffs. See 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(g). 

140. Domino Service Dogs is an organization with the mission and purpose of training 

service animals and their potential owners in places of public accommodation. 

141. Domino Service Dogs is an entity that has a relationship or association with the 

Individual Plaintiffs. See 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(g). 

142. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiffs in violation of Title III of the 

ADA and its implementing regulations on the basis of disability as set forth in this Complaint. 
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143. Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by 

Defendants’ discrimination. 

144. Plaintiffs are likely to encounter the same discriminatory treatment in the future. 

145. In the absence of the injunction requested herein, Defendant Krasner Amusement 

Co. will continue to discriminate against Plaintiffs, other CCDC members who use service animals 

or service animals in training and Domino Service Dogs users and trainees in violation of Title III 

of the ADA and its implementing regulations. 

Third Claim for Relief 
(Violations of Title II of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12131 et seq. against the Town of Lakeside, 

Colorado and the Lakeside Police Department) 
 

146. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations  

set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein.  

147. Public entities are defined as “any State or local government; [and] any department, 

agency, special purpose district, or other instrumentality of a State or States 

or local government[.]” 42 U.S.C. § 12131(1)(A)-(B). 

148. Defendants are public entities within the meaning of the ADA. See 42 U.S.C. § 

12131(1). 

149. Title II of the ADA provides in pertinent part: “[N]o qualified individual with a 

disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the 

benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination 

by any such entity.” 42 U.S.C. § 12132; 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(a) 
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150. Each of the Individual Plaintiffs is a qualified individual with a disability or the 

known associate of a qualified individual with a disability. 42 U.S.C. §12102; 28 C.F.R. § 

35.130(g). 

151. The regulations implementing Title II further provide that where necessary to avoid 

discrimination, a public entity “shall modify its policies, practices, or procedures to permit the use 

of a service animal by an individual with a disability.” 28 C.F.R. § 35.136(a). 

152. “Access to areas of a public entity. Individuals with disabilities shall be permitted 

to be accompanied by their service animals in all areas of a public entity's facilities where members 

of the public, participants in services, programs or activities, or invitees, as relevant, are allowed to 

go.” 28 C.F.R. § 35.136(g). 

153. “A public entity may not, directly or through contractual or other arrangements, 

utilize criteria or methods of administration: (i) That have the effect of subjecting qualified 

individuals with disabilities to discrimination on the basis of disability; (ii) That have the purpose 

or effect of defeating or substantially impairing accomplishment of the objectives of the public 

entity's program with respect to individuals with disabilities; or (iii) That perpetuate the 

discrimination of another public entity if both public entities are subject to common administrative 

control or are agencies of the same State.” 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(3).  

154. On information and belief, the Town of Lakeside, Colorado has a contract or other 

arrangements with the Lakeside Police Department regarding the provision of police services at, 

inter alia, the Lakeside Amusement Park. 
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155. On information and belief, the Lakeside Amusement Park has a contract or other 

arrangement with the Town of Lakeside, Colorado, the Lakeside Police Department, or both to 

provide police services at the Lakeside Amusement Park. 

156. The Lakeside Police Department discriminated against Plaintiffs in violation of the 

ADA in the ways described in this complaint. 

157. In the absence of the injunction sought herein, the Lakeside Police Department will 

continue to discriminate against plaintiffs as set forth in this complaint. 

158. The Individual Plaintiffs and organizations were damaged by and will continue to 

be damaged by the actions of the Lakeside Police Department at Lakeside Amusement Park.  

Fourth Claim for Relief 
(Violation of Title IV of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12203 against all Defendants) 

 
159. Under the ADA, “No person shall discriminate against any individual because such 

individual has opposed any act or practice made unlawful by this chapter or because such 

individual made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an investigation, 

proceeding, or hearing under this chapter.” 42 U.S.C. 12203(a). 

160. Because the Individual Plaintiffs opposed Lakeside Amusement Park’s policy 

concerning allowing service animals on the train, both the Lakeside Amusement Park employees 

and the Lakeside Police Department retaliated against the Individual Plaintiffs. 

161. The Individual Plaintiffs were asked to provide identification when no one else in 

line for the train or at the park was required to do so. 

162. The Individual Plaintiffs were told they would be ejected from the park if they did 

not provide identification. 
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163. The Lakeside Police Department threatened the Individual Plaintiffs with 

prosecution for exercising their rights under federal and state disability laws. 

164. “It shall be unlawful to coerce, intimidate, threaten, or interfere with any individual 

in the exercise or enjoyment of, or on account of his or her having exercised or enjoyed, or on 

account of his or her having aided or encouraged any other individual in the exercise or enjoyment 

of, any right granted or protected by this chapter.” 42 U.S.C. § 12203(b). 

165. Lakeside Amusement Park and Lakeside Police Department officers intimidated, 

threatened, and interfered with the exercise and enjoyment of those Individual Plaintiffs who were 

trying to have a discussion with Lakeside Amusement Park employees regarding their rights under 

disability statutes. 

166. Lakeside Amusement Park employees and Lakeside Police Department officers 

intimidated, threatened, and interfered with the exercise and enjoyment of those rights of 

Individual Plaintiffs who accompanied those trying to have a discussion with Lakeside 

Amusement Park employees regarding their rights under disability statutes. 

167. Lakeside Amusement Park employees threatened Plaintiffs with civil lawsuits. 

168. Despite Plaintiffs’ attempts at providing Lakeside Police Department officers with 

the language of the criminal statute, the Lakeside Police Department officers refused to take a 

report regarding the interference with the rights of people with disabilities under Colo. Rev. Stat. § 

18-13-107(3). 
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169.  “The remedies and procedures available under section[] . . . 12188 of this title 

shall be available to aggrieved persons for violations of subsections (a) and (b) of this section, with 

respect to . . . subchapter III of this chapter[.]” 42 U.S.C. § 12203(c). 

Fifth Claim for Relief 
(Violation of CADA, Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 24-34-601 et seq., and 24-34-801 et seq.) 

 
170. Under the CADA, “place of public accommodation” means “any place of business 

engaged in any sales to the public and any place offering services, facilities, privileges, 

advantages, or accommodations to the public, including but not limited to any business offering 

wholesale or retail sales to the public; any place to eat, drink, sleep, or rest, or any combination 

thereof; any sporting or recreational area and facility; any public transportation facility . . .or any 

public building, park, arena, theater, hall, auditorium, museum, library, exhibit, or public facility 

of any kind whether indoor or outdoor.” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(1)(a); see also Colo. Rev. 

Stat. § 24-34-301(5.3) (incorporating ADA definition of “place of public accommodation”). 

171. Lakeside Amusement Park is a place of public accommodation under the CADA. 

172. “It is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for a person, directly or indirectly, to 

refuse, withhold from, or deny to an individual or a group, because of disability . . . the full and 

equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of a 

place of public accommodation or, directly or indirectly, to publish, circulate, issue, display, post, 

or mail any written, electronic, or printed communication, notice, or advertisement that indicates 

that the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or 

accommodations of a place of public accommodation will be refused, withheld from, or denied an 

individual or that an individual’s patronage or presence at a place of public accommodation is 
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unwelcome, objectionable, unacceptable, or undesirable because of disability[.]” Colo. Rev. Stat. 

§ 24-34-601(2)(a). 

173. Lakeside Police Department officers discriminated against Plaintiffs in violation of 

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2)(a). 

174. Lakeside Amusement Park and the Lakeside Police Department refused Plaintiffs 

access to rides based on their disabilities and dependence on service animals or service animals in 

training. 

175. Lakeside Amusement Park posts signs that discourage or deter individuals with 

service animals or service animals in training from having those animals in the park. 

176. In addition, “The general assembly declares that is the policy of the state: . . . [t]hat 

individuals . . . with a disability are entitled to full and equal . . .  privileges of all . . . places of 

public accommodation, amusement, or resort, and other places to which the general public is 

invited[.]” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-801(1)(c). 

177. Lakeside Amusement Park employees discriminated against Plaintiffs in violation 

of Colo. Rev. Stat § 24-34-801(1)(c). 

178. It is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for any person to discriminate against 

any individual or group because such person or group has opposed any practice made a 

discriminatory practice by this part 6[.]” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2.5); see also Colo. Rev. 

Stat. § 24-34-802(1). 

179. Lakeside Amusement Park employees discriminated against Plaintiffs because 

Plaintiffs opposed practices made discriminatory under part 6 of the CADA. 
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180. Lakeside Police Department officers discriminated against Plaintiffs because 

Plaintiffs opposed practices made discriminatory under part 6 of the CADA. 

181. “A claim brought pursuant to paragraph (a) of this subsection (2) that is based on 

disability is covered by the provisions of section 24-34-802.” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2)(b). 

182. “It is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for any person to discriminate against 

any individual or group because such person or group has opposed any practice made a 

discriminatory practice based on disability pursuant to part . . . 6 or 8 of this article, or because 

such person or group has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an 

investigation, proceeding, or hearing conducted pursuant to part . . . 6, or 8 of this article.” Colo. 

Rev. Stat. § 24-34-802(1). 

183. Under Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-803, entitled “Rights of individuals with service 

animals, “A qualified individual with a disability has the right to be accompanied by a service 

animal individually trained for that individual without being required to pay an extra charge for the 

service animal in or on the following places or during the following activities and subject to the 

conditions and limitations established by law and applicable alike to all individuals: (a) Any place 

of . . . public accommodation; (b) Any programs, services, or activities conducted by a public 

entity; (c) Any public transportation service; or (d) Any other place open to the public.” Colo. Rev. 

Stat. § 24-34-803(1). 

184. In addition, “A trainer of a service animal, or an individual with a disability 

accompanied by an animal that is being trained to be a service animal, has the right to be 

accompanied by the service animal in training without being required to pay an extra charge for the 
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service animal in training in or on the following places or during the following activities: (a) Any  

place of . . . public accommodation; (b) Any programs, services, or activities conducted by a public 

entity; (c) Any public transportation service; or (d) Any other place open to the public.” Colo. Rev. 

Stat. § 24-34-803(2). 

185. Lakeside Amusement Park employees denied Plaintiffs, because of their 

disabilities and their use of service animals or service animals in training, access to a place of 

public accommodation and to the programs, services, or activities conducted by a public entity, a 

transportation service, and other places open to the public.  

186. Town of Lakeside Police Department officers denied Plaintiffs, because of their 

disabilities and their use of service animals or service animals in training, access to a place of 

public accommodation and to the programs, services, or activities conducted by a public entity, a 

transportation service, and other places open to the public. 

187. “A qualified individual with a disability, as defined in section 24-34-301(5.6), who 

is subject to a violation of subsection (1) of this section or of section . . . 24-34-601, or 24-34-803 

based on his or her disability may bring a civil suit in a court of competent jurisdiction and is 

entitled to any of the following remedies: (I) A court order requiring compliance with the 

provisions of the applicable section; (II) The recovery of actual monetary damages; or (III) A 

statutory fine not to exceed three thousand five hundred dollars.” Colo. Rev. Stat § 

24-34-802(2)(a). 

Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray: 
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1. That this Court assume jurisdiction; 

2. That this Court issue an Order declaring Defendants to be in violation of Section 

504,Titles II, III and IV of the ADA (as applicable) and the CADA; 

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants to bring their policies, 

practices and procedures as well as Lakeside Amusement Park facilities into compliance with 

these disability rights statutes; 

4. That this Court award Plaintiffs damages; 

5. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper 

and equitable. 

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiffs request this case be heard by a jury. 
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      Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Kevin W. Williams 
Kevin W. Williams 
Andrew C. Montoya 
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition 
655 Broadway, Suite 775 
Denver, Colorado 80203 
Phone: (303) 839-1775 
Facsimile: (720) 420-1390 
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org 
E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Dated: April 30, 2015 

Address of Domino Service Dogs: 
 
P.O. Box 140245 
Denver, Colorado 80214 
 
Address of Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition: 
 
655 Broadway, Suite 775 
Denver, Colorado 80203 
 
Address of Barbara Henry: 
 
P.O. Box 143636  
Denver, Colorado 80214 
 
Address of Ruthie McNair: 
 
106 WCR 37  
Lochbuie, Colorado 80603 
 
Address of Maureen Stevens: 
 
1446 Highland Park Drive 
Broomfield, Colorado 80020 
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Address of Valerie Schlecht: 
 
P.O. Box 3764 
Englewood, Colorado 80155 
 
Address of Francesca Maes: 
 
9311 Harris Street 
Thornton, Colorado 80209 
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	1. On July 26, 1990, almost twenty-five years ago, the ADA was passed, establishing the most important civil rights law for people with disabilities in the nation’s history.
	2. The ADA was passed to ensure people with disabilities are not discriminated against by employers, government entities, places of public accommodation and more.
	3. The ADA prohibits public entities, such as the Town of Lakeside, Colorado, and its Police Department, from excluding individuals with disabilities from participation in, or denying access to programs, services, and activities based on the need for ...
	4. The ADA prohibits places of public accommodation, such as the Lakeside Amusement Park (“Park”), from excluding individuals with disabilities and/or discriminating against them in the provision of goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages,...
	5. The ADA also prohibits these places from preventing individuals with disabilities who have service animals from allowing their service animals to accompany them to the facilities of the places of public accommodation.
	6. Section 504 makes it unlawful for recipients of federal financial assistance to discriminate against individuals with disabilities.
	7. On information and belief, the Town of Lakeside and its Police Department are recipients of federal financial assistance.
	8. The CADA makes prohibitions similar to the ADA’s with respect to individuals with disabilities who use service animals and also restricts discrimination against individuals with disabilities and others who have service animals in training.
	9. On August 17, 2014, the Individual Plaintiffs, including Domino Service Dogs, a company that trains service animals with potential owners, and several individuals with service animals and service animals in training went to the Park, both to enjoy ...
	10. Nevertheless, in this case, the operators of Lakeside Amusement Park denied individuals with disabilities who use service animals and service animals in training access to any of the rides with their service animals and service animals in training.
	11. The Town of Lakeside, through its Police Department, also prohibited individuals with disabilities who use service animals and service animals in training from accessing any of the rides and engaged in unlawful intimidation and coercion against in...
	12. Under Colorado law, it is a crime to interfere with an individual who, based on disability, has the right to use a service animal or service animal in training. Nevertheless, an agent of the Lakeside Police Department refused to even look at the s...
	13. As set forth more fully below, Defendants denied individuals who use service animals and/or who train service animals equal access to their programs, services, and activities, as well as their goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, o...
	14. Plaintiffs seek a court order compelling Defendants to comply with the ADA, Section 504 and the CADA, monetary damages and the recovery of their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.
	15. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343, and may exercise jurisdiction over the state claims pursuant to its authority under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).
	16. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.
	17.  Domino Service Dogs is a nonprofit, corporation, staffed entirely by volunteers, whose mission and purpose include training service animals to perform services for eligible individuals with disabilities. As part of Domino Service Dogs’ services, ...
	18. Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado nonprofit corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies.
	19. Plaintiff Barbara Henry is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the State of Colorado. Ms. Henry is the founder and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of Domino Service Dogs. Ms. Henry trains service animals through her volunteer-run...
	20. Plaintiff Caitlin Brady is the minor daughter of Plaintiff Barbara Henry and is substantially limited in the major life activity of walking. Miss Brady uses a wheelchair for mobility and has a service dog to assist her with everyday tasks related ...
	21. Plaintiff Mark Simon is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the State of Colorado. Mr. Simon is substantially limited in the major life activity of walking and uses a wheelchair for mobility. Mr. Simon also uses a service dog to ...
	22. Plaintiff Maureen Stevens is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the State of Colorado. Ms. Stevens has Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and is substantially limited in several major life activities. Plaintiff Maureen Stevens suffe...
	23. Plaintiff Ruthie McNair is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the State of Colorado. Ms. McNair is significantly limited in the major life activity of walking as a result of both hip and knee replacements as well as significant ...
	24. Plaintiff Valerie Schlecht is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the State of Colorado. Ms. Schlecht attended the gathering with the other referenced Individual Plaintiffs at Lakeside Amusement Park at which those other Plaintif...
	25. Plaintiff Francesca Maes is and was, at all times pertinent hereto, a resident of the State of Colorado. Ms. Maes is substantially limited in several major life activities brought on by liver cirrhosis and in balance and walking due to a back surg...
	26. Defendant Krasner Amusement Company is a Colorado corporation that owns and operates Lakeside Amusement Park, a place of public accommodation.
	27. Defendant the Town of Lakeside, Colorado is a Colorado town organized pursuant to Colo. Rev. Stat. § 31-1-203(1).
	28. On information and belief, the Town of Lakeside, Colorado is responsible for the operation of its Police Department.
	29. Defendant Lakeside, Colorado Police Department is a police department operated by the Town of Lakeside, Colorado and a local law enforcement agency, as defined in Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-33.5-602.
	30. On August 17, 2014, the Plaintiffs, several individuals with disabilities with service animals and service animals in training and some of their friends and colleagues, went to Lakeside Amusement Park for the purpose of enjoying the park as well a...
	31. Domino Service Dogs paid for the majority of the Individual Plaintiffs’ admission to the park and for train tickets for all.
	32. Domino Service Dogs has taken individuals training service animals to Lakeside Amusement Park before. She has gone with groups with whom service animals and service animals in training have ridden the train, and other rides at Lakeside Amusement P...
	33. On one other occasion, in 2009, Ms. Hershey and other volunteers with Domino Service Dogs were denied access to the train.
	34. After that, Domino Service Dogs was deterred from going to Lakeside Amusement Park because of the 2009 denial.
	35. Nevertheless, in 2014, Domino Service Dogs tried again to train owners and service dogs in training at Lakeside Amusement Park.
	36. Plaintiff Barbara Henry and other volunteers of Domino Service Dogs were at the Park that day for one of their regularly scheduled outings for the purpose of training service animals and their potential owners.
	37. Lakeside Amusement Park employees refused to allow Plaintiffs who use service animals and who were training service animals to ride any of the rides at the amusement park with their service animals and service animals in training.
	38. One specific ride Plaintiffs attempted to use with their service animals and service animals in training was the Lakeside Amusement Park train.
	39. The Individual Plaintiffs got in line for the train.
	40. Lakeside Amusement Park employees refused to allow Plaintiffs to ride the train with their service animals and service animals in training.
	41. Upon request of Lakeside Amusement Park officials or the Lakeside Police Department, the Individual Plaintiffs were asked to move out of the line.
	42. The Individual Plaintiffs made certain not to block access to the train for any other customers while discussing their rights with Lakeside Amusement Park employees and the Lakeside Police Department.
	43. On information and belief, Lakeside Amusement Park employees contacted the Lakeside Police Department to come to the train station to assist in preventing Plaintiffs from riding the train with their service animals and service animals in training.
	44. The Lakeside Police Department intervened to prevent Plaintiffs attempting to ride the train with their service animals and service animals and training.
	45. The Lakeside Police Department refused to allow Plaintiffs to ride the train with their service animals and service animals in training.
	46. On information and belief, numerous wheelchair access barriers exist throughout the park that could be remedied without much difficulty or expense. For example, the parking lot does not have marked access aisles for accessible parking, and for a p...
	47. When Plaintiff Francesca Maes attempted to film and record the interactions among the Plaintiffs, the employees for the Lakeside Amusement Park and the Lakeside Police Department, she was threatened with a lawsuit by Lakeside Amusement Park staff ...
	48. Other members of the party took either video or photographs of the discussion between the Plaintiffs and the Lakeside Police Department and Lakeside Amusement Park employees.
	49. Lakeside Police Department officers threatened those who were taking videos and pictures with arrest.
	50. Plaintiffs saw other people at Lakeside Amusement Park taking pictures and videos, who were not asked by the police not to do so.
	51. Plaintiffs requested that the Lakeside Police Department produce a statute or ordinance that showed that they were prohibited from filming the activities of the Lakeside Amusement Park staff and by the Lakeside Police Department, but the police of...
	52. Plaintiffs had a discussion with Lakeside Amusement Park employees and Lakeside Police Department officers with respect to allowing Plaintiffs to board the train with their service animals and service animals in training.
	53. Plaintiffs also attempted to explain to the Lakeside Police Department that there was no regulation that prohibited individuals from videotaping or recording at the amusement park.
	54. The Lakeside Police Department informed the Plaintiffs that it would take going through numerous statutes to find the one that prohibited recording in amusement park and that because Lakeside Amusement Park was private property, the owners and ope...
	55. Lakeside Amusement Park employees informed Plaintiffs that no animals are permitted on any ride and that if Plaintiffs wanted to ride the train, they must leave their service animals and service animals in training unattended at the station or spl...
	56. Lakeside Amusement Park employees informed Plaintiffs that Lakeside Amusement Park has a policy requiring that an individual who uses a wheelchair must be able to self-load on the ride and self-evacuate in the event of a breakdown, or that the ind...
	57. The Lakeside Police Department informed Plaintiffs that they should leave the property and file a complaint with the Department of Justice if they were dissatisfied with not being allowed to bring their service animals and service animals in train...
	58. Lakeside Amusement Park employees demanded that Plaintiffs provide them with identification and threatened ejection from the Lakeside Amusement Park if identification was not provided.
	59. Lakeside Amusement Park employees did not demand identification from any other non-disabled person who rode the train or entered the park that day.
	60. The Lakeside Amusement Park has signs saying that no animals of any kind are allowed in the park. There is no exclusion on the sign for service animals.
	61. Lakeside Amusement Park employees informed Plaintiffs that the park was “historic,” and, therefore, Lakeside Amusement Park did not need to make any changes to the park or to its policies to make it accessible to individuals who use wheelchairs.
	62. One of the Plaintiffs provided the Lakeside Police Department officers with a copy of information about the criminal statute that makes it a crime to interfere with the rights of an individual with disabilities, Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-13-107(3).
	63. A true and correct copy of the form provided to the Lakeside Police Department officers is produced herewith as Exhibit A.
	64. The Lakeside Police Department officers refused to look at the copy of the information about the criminal statute one Plaintiff provided and said they would not enforce it.
	65. Lakeside Police Department officers threatened to arrest Plaintiffs for disturbing the peace, creating a public nuisance and trespassing, even though they were behaving in an orderly fashion and waiting in line with their service animals and servi...
	66. The Lakeside Police Department officers were loud, threatening, rude and belligerent to Plaintiffs who were simply trying to explain their rights under both the ADA and the CADA.
	67. The Lakeside Amusement Park employees were intimidating and harassing to Plaintiffs who were simply trying to explain their rights under both the ADA and the CADA.
	68. A video of some of the event was made and was posted to YouTube at the following URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N-nfbhsB4FA&feature=em-upload_owner.
	69. On information and belief, there may be additional video and/or other recordings of the incidents that occurred at the Lakeside Amusement Park train depot on August 17, 2014.
	70. Even though “amusement parks” are specifically identified as a place of public accommodation under the ADA, one of the Lakeside Police Department officers insisted that amusement parks were exempted from the Americans with Disabilities Act.
	71. One of the Lakeside Police Department officers, believed to be the supervising officer, left the scene and returned and produced paperwork that purported to exclude amusement parks from disability rights laws, but the paperwork referenced temporar...
	72. The rides at the Lakeside Amusement Park are permanent, not movable.
	73. The Lakeside Amusement Park employees and Lakeside Police Department officers informed the Plaintiffs that because the amusement park is private property, the Plaintiffs could be asked to leave at any time for any reason.
	74. During their discussions with the Lakeside Police Department officers, Plaintiffs specifically requested that the officers file a criminal complaint against the Lakeside Amusement Park for violation of Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-13-107 (“Interference w...
	75. The Lakeside Police Department officers refused to take a report or file a complaint.
	76. Plaintiff Barbara Henry wanted to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park with her associates and friends, but she did not want to do so if they were not allowed to board the train with their service animals and service animals in training.
	77. Plaintiff Barbara Henry uses a service dog herself, but she did not bring her service dog that day so that she could assist with training others.
	78. Because Lakeside Amusement Park and Lakeside Police Department prohibited any member of the group from riding the train with a service animal or service animal in training, Plaintiff Barbara Henry was deterred from riding the train as well.
	79. The Lakeside Police Department blocked the entrance to the train for the Individual Plaintiffs.
	80. Plaintiff Barbara Henry will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service animals in training.
	81. Plaintiff Caitlin Brady wanted to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park with her associates and friends, but she did not want to do so if they were not allowed to board the train with their service animals and service animals in training.
	82. Plaintiff Caitlin Brady also has a service dog that assists her with balance and pulling her wheelchair. Plaintiff Caitlin Brady did not bring her service animal that day so that she could assist others with training.
	83. Because Lakeside Amusement Park and Lakeside Police Department prohibited any member of the group from riding the train with a service animal or service animal in training, Plaintiff Caitlin Brady was deterred from riding the train as well.
	84. Plaintiff Caitlin Brady will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service animals in training.
	85. Plaintiff Mark Simon wanted to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park with his service animal and would have done so, but Defendants refused to allow Plaintiff Mark Simon to ride the train with his service animal.
	86. Plaintiff Mark Simon will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service animals in training being permitted to accompany their owners on the train.
	87. Plaintiff Ruthie McNair wanted to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park with her service animal and would have done so, but Defendants refused to allow Plaintiff Ruthie McNair to ride the train with her service animal.
	88. Plaintiff Ruthie McNair will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service animals in training being permitted to accompany their owners on the t...
	89. Plaintiff Maureen Stevens wanted to ride the train with her service dog, but Lakeside Amusement Park employees and Lakeside Police Department officers refused to allow her to board the train with her service dog.
	90. Plaintiff Maureen Stevens will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service animals in training being permitted to accompany their owners on the...
	91. Plaintiff Valerie Schlecht wanted to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park with her associates and friends, but she did not want to do so if they were not allowed to board the train with their service animals and service animals in training.
	92. Because Lakeside Amusement Park and Lakeside Police Department prohibited any member of the group from riding the train with a service animal, or service animal in training, Plaintiff Valerie Schlecht was deterred from riding the train as well.
	93. Plaintiff Valerie Schlecht will return to Lakeside Amusement Park with her friends and colleagues who have service animals and service animals in training and will ride the train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to servic...
	94. Plaintiff Francesca Maes wanted to be able to ride the train at Lakeside Amusement Park with her service animal and would have done so, but Defendants refused to allow Plaintiff. Francesca Maes to ride the train with her service animal.
	95. Plaintiff Francesca Maes will return to Lakeside Amusement Park and will ride the train if Lakeside Amusement Park changes its policy with respect to service animals and service animals in training being permitted to accompany their owners on the ...
	96. Plaintiffs found the behavior of the Lakeside Amusement Park employees and the Lakeside Police Department to be very rude and threatening and intimidating.
	97. During the course of the interactions among the Plaintiffs and the Lakeside Amusement Park employees, the Park employees told Plaintiffs that they would be permitted to ride without their service animals, but not with their service animals.
	98. Because the Individual Plaintiffs were not permitted to ride the train with their service animals or service animals in training, and were told by Lakeside Amusement Park employees they were not permitted to take their service animals or service a...
	99. Lakeside Police Department officers followed the Individual Plaintiffs out of the park.
	100. Each of the Individual Plaintiffs has suffered discrimination, harm and damages as the result of Defendants’ unlawful policies, practices and procedures.
	101. Each of the Individual Plaintiffs, including those with their service animals and service animals in training, will return to Lakeside Amusement Park if Defendants’ unlawful policies, practices and procedures are corrected.
	102. Domino Service Dogs is a nonprofit organization designed for the purpose of furthering the independence of individuals with disabilities by assisting them in training service animals.
	103. Domino Service Dogs uses public accommodations like Lakeside Amusement Park for the purpose of training and acclimating service animals to places of public accommodation.
	104. The discriminatory policies, practices and procedures of Lakeside Amusement Park have damaged the mission and purpose of Domino Service Dogs.
	105. The actions of the Lakeside Police Department have damaged the mission and purpose of Domino Service Dogs.
	106. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and perceptible injury to Domino Service Dogs. Those injuries include, but are not limited to, those described herein.
	107. Many CCDC members are individuals with disabilities who use service animals and service animals in training.
	108. Many CCDC members who use service animals and service animals in training would like to go to Lakeside Amusement Park and to enjoy its facilities and accommodations with their service animals.
	109. Many CCDC members are friends and associates of individuals who use service animals and service animals in training, and would like to go to Lakeside Amusement Park and be able to enjoy its facilities and accommodations with their friends and ass...
	110. CCDC members have been deterred from visiting Lakeside Amusement Park by its policies, practices and procedures prohibiting those individuals with disabilities who use service animals and service animals in training from enjoying the Park’s accom...
	111. CCDC members with disabilities who have service animals or service animals in training will visit Lakeside Amusement Park once it eliminates its discriminatory policies against individuals with disabilities who have service animals and service an...
	112. CCDC’s purpose is to promote independence, self-reliance, and full participation for people with all types of disabilities, and to combat discrimination against individuals with disabilities, through advocacy, education, research and training. As...
	113. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities. This effort and this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Defen...
	114. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and perceptible injury to CCDC. Those injuries include, but are not limited to, those described herein.
	115. In the absence of the injunction sought herein, Defendants will continue to discriminate against individuals with disabilities who use service animals and service animals in training, including Plaintiffs and many other CCDC members and Domino Se...
	116. As advocates on behalf of individuals who use service animals and service animals in training, CCDC and Domino Service Dogs have an interest in ensuring that a public accommodation, such as Lakeside Amusement Park, allows individuals with disabil...
	117. Many of CCDC’s members and Domino Service Dogs’ trainers and trainees patronize Lakeside Amusement Park, plan to continue to do so in the future, and would like to -- and are ready, willing and able to -- patronize Lakeside Amusement Park when th...
	118. CCDC’s members and Domino Service Dogs’ trainers and trainees are injured by their inability to use the facilities at Lakeside Amusement Park with their service animals and service animals in training.
	119. In addition, Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct impalpable injury to CCDC and Domino Service Dogs themselves, along with their members and constituents. Defendants’ discriminatory actions have caused CCDC and Domino Se...
	120. CCDC’s and Domino Service Dogs’ injuries are traceable to Defendants’ discriminatory conduct alleged herein, and will be redressed by the relief requested.
	121. CCDC’s members and Domino Service Dogs’ clients who use service animals or service animals in training have been injured and will continue to be injured by Defendants’ refusal to comply with the ADA, Section 504 and the CADA, and Defendants’ cont...
	122. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendants, is at the core of CCDC’s and Domino Service Dogs’ organizational purposes.
	123. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein.
	124. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 provides in pertinent part:
	125. On information and belief, both the Town of Lakeside, Colorado and the Lakeside Police Department receive federal funding through state and federal programs.
	126. Both Defendants are “a department, agency, special purpose district, or other instrumentality of a State or of a local government[.]” 29 U.S.C. § 794(b)(1)(A).
	127. Each of the Individual Plaintiffs is a qualified individual with a disability who uses a service animal, or service animal in training or is a known associate, or has a relationship with an individual with a disability who has a service animal or...
	128. CCDC is a membership organization whose members are individuals with disabilities, including mobility disabilities, and their non-disabled allies.
	129. Other CCDC members who use service animals or service animals in training will be subject to discrimination by Defendants solely on the basis of their disabilities.
	130. Other CCDC members who are associated with individuals who have and use service animals or service animals in training will be subject to discrimination by Defendants solely on the basis of the disabilities of their associates.
	131. Domino Service Dogs is an entity whose purpose it is to train service animals and their potential owners in places of public accommodation.
	132. Defendants and their agents acted intentionally and with a reckless disregard for Plaintiffs’ civil rights.
	133. Plaintiffs have been injured, damaged and aggrieved by and will continue to be injured, damaged and aggrieved by Defendants’ discrimination.
	134. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein.
	135. Title III of the ADA provides in pertinent part: “No individual shall be discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place o...
	136. Lakeside Amusement Park is a place of public accommodation under the ADA. 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(I)(defining “amusement park” as a place of public accommodation).
	137. All Individual Plaintiffs are individuals with disabilities as defined in the ADA or individuals with a relationship or association with individuals with disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 12102; 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(g).
	138. CCDC is a membership organization whose members are individuals with disabilities, including individuals with disabilities who use service animals or service animals in training, and their non-disabled allies.
	139. CCDC is an entity that has a relationship or association with the Individual Plaintiffs. See 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(g).
	140. Domino Service Dogs is an organization with the mission and purpose of training service animals and their potential owners in places of public accommodation.
	141. Domino Service Dogs is an entity that has a relationship or association with the Individual Plaintiffs. See 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(g).
	142. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiffs in violation of Title III of the ADA and its implementing regulations on the basis of disability as set forth in this Complaint.
	143. Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by Defendants’ discrimination.
	144. Plaintiffs are likely to encounter the same discriminatory treatment in the future.
	145. In the absence of the injunction requested herein, Defendant Krasner Amusement Co. will continue to discriminate against Plaintiffs, other CCDC members who use service animals or service animals in training and Domino Service Dogs users and train...
	146. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations
	set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein.
	147. Public entities are defined as “any State or local government; [and] any department, agency, special purpose district, or other instrumentality of a State or States
	or local government[.]” 42 U.S.C. § 12131(1)(A)(B).
	148. Defendants are public entities within the meaning of the ADA. See 42 U.S.C. § 12131(1).
	149. Title II of the ADA provides in pertinent part: “[N]o qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public ent...
	150. Each of the Individual Plaintiffs is a qualified individual with a disability or the known associate of a qualified individual with a disability. 42 U.S.C. §12102; 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(g).
	151. The regulations implementing Title II further provide that where necessary to avoid discrimination, a public entity “shall modify its policies, practices, or procedures to permit the use of a service animal by an individual with a disability.” 28...
	152. “Access to areas of a public entity. Individuals with disabilities shall be permitted to be accompanied by their service animals in all areas of a public entity's facilities where members of the public, participants in services, programs or activ...
	153. “A public entity may not, directly or through contractual or other arrangements, utilize criteria or methods of administration: (i) That have the effect of subjecting qualified individuals with disabilities to discrimination on the basis of disab...
	154. On information and belief, the Town of Lakeside, Colorado has a contract or other arrangements with the Lakeside Police Department regarding the provision of police services at, inter alia, the Lakeside Amusement Park.
	155. On information and belief, the Lakeside Amusement Park has a contract or other arrangement with the Town of Lakeside, Colorado, the Lakeside Police Department, or both to provide police services at the Lakeside Amusement Park.
	156. The Lakeside Police Department discriminated against Plaintiffs in violation of the ADA in the ways described in this complaint.
	157. In the absence of the injunction sought herein, the Lakeside Police Department will continue to discriminate against plaintiffs as set forth in this complaint.
	158. The Individual Plaintiffs and organizations were damaged by and will continue to be damaged by the actions of the Lakeside Police Department at Lakeside Amusement Park.
	Fourth Claim for Relief
	(Violation of Title IV of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12203 against all Defendants)
	159. Under the ADA, “No person shall discriminate against any individual because such individual has opposed any act or practice made unlawful by this chapter or because such individual made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner...
	160. Because the Individual Plaintiffs opposed Lakeside Amusement Park’s policy concerning allowing service animals on the train, both the Lakeside Amusement Park employees and the Lakeside Police Department retaliated against the Individual Plaintiffs.
	161. The Individual Plaintiffs were asked to provide identification when no one else in line for the train or at the park was required to do so.
	162. The Individual Plaintiffs were told they would be ejected from the park if they did not provide identification.
	163. The Lakeside Police Department threatened the Individual Plaintiffs with prosecution for exercising their rights under federal and state disability laws.
	164. “It shall be unlawful to coerce, intimidate, threaten, or interfere with any individual in the exercise or enjoyment of, or on account of his or her having exercised or enjoyed, or on account of his or her having aided or encouraged any other ind...
	165. Lakeside Amusement Park and Lakeside Police Department officers intimidated, threatened, and interfered with the exercise and enjoyment of those Individual Plaintiffs who were trying to have a discussion with Lakeside Amusement Park employees reg...
	166. Lakeside Amusement Park employees and Lakeside Police Department officers intimidated, threatened, and interfered with the exercise and enjoyment of those rights of Individual Plaintiffs who accompanied those trying to have a discussion with Lake...
	167. Lakeside Amusement Park employees threatened Plaintiffs with civil lawsuits.
	168. Despite Plaintiffs’ attempts at providing Lakeside Police Department officers with the language of the criminal statute, the Lakeside Police Department officers refused to take a report regarding the interference with the rights of people with di...
	169.  “The remedies and procedures available under section[] . . . 12188 of this title shall be available to aggrieved persons for violations of subsections (a) and (b) of this section, with respect to . . . subchapter III of this chapter[.]” 42 U.S.C...
	Fifth Claim for Relief

	(Violation of CADA, Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 24-34-601 et seq., and 24-34-801 et seq.)
	170. Under the CADA, “place of public accommodation” means “any place of business engaged in any sales to the public and any place offering services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations to the public, including but not limited to any...
	171. Lakeside Amusement Park is a place of public accommodation under the CADA.
	172. “It is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for a person, directly or indirectly, to refuse, withhold from, or deny to an individual or a group, because of disability . . . the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privil...
	173. Lakeside Police Department officers discriminated against Plaintiffs in violation of Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2)(a).
	174. Lakeside Amusement Park and the Lakeside Police Department refused Plaintiffs access to rides based on their disabilities and dependence on service animals or service animals in training.
	175. Lakeside Amusement Park posts signs that discourage or deter individuals with service animals or service animals in training from having those animals in the park.
	176. In addition, “The general assembly declares that is the policy of the state: . . . [t]hat individuals . . . with a disability are entitled to full and equal . . .  privileges of all . . . places of public accommodation, amusement, or resort, and ...
	177. Lakeside Amusement Park employees discriminated against Plaintiffs in violation of Colo. Rev. Stat § 24-34-801(1)(c).
	178. It is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for any person to discriminate against any individual or group because such person or group has opposed any practice made a discriminatory practice by this part 6[.]” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2.5);...
	179. Lakeside Amusement Park employees discriminated against Plaintiffs because Plaintiffs opposed practices made discriminatory under part 6 of the CADA.
	180. Lakeside Police Department officers discriminated against Plaintiffs because Plaintiffs opposed practices made discriminatory under part 6 of the CADA.
	181. “A claim brought pursuant to paragraph (a) of this subsection (2) that is based on disability is covered by the provisions of section 24-34-802.” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2)(b).
	182. “It is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for any person to discriminate against any individual or group because such person or group has opposed any practice made a discriminatory practice based on disability pursuant to part . . . 6 or 8 of...
	183. Under Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-803, entitled “Rights of individuals with service animals, “A qualified individual with a disability has the right to be accompanied by a service animal individually trained for that individual without being require...
	184. In addition, “A trainer of a service animal, or an individual with a disability accompanied by an animal that is being trained to be a service animal, has the right to be accompanied by the service animal in training without being required to pay...
	185. Lakeside Amusement Park employees denied Plaintiffs, because of their disabilities and their use of service animals or service animals in training, access to a place of public accommodation and to the programs, services, or activities conducted b...
	186. Town of Lakeside Police Department officers denied Plaintiffs, because of their disabilities and their use of service animals or service animals in training, access to a place of public accommodation and to the programs, services, or activities c...
	187. “A qualified individual with a disability, as defined in section 24-34-301(5.6), who is subject to a violation of subsection (1) of this section or of section . . . 24-34-601, or 24-34-803 based on his or her disability may bring a civil suit in ...
	Prayer for Relief
	1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;
	2. That this Court issue an Order declaring Defendants to be in violation of Section 504,Titles II, III and IV of the ADA (as applicable) and the CADA;
	3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants to bring their policies, practices and procedures as well as Lakeside Amusement Park facilities into compliance with these disability rights statutes;
	4. That this Court award Plaintiffs damages;
	5. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and
	6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper and equitable.

